

SUBSTITUTE FOR  
HOUSE BILL NO. 6151

A bill to amend 1951 PA 51, entitled

"An act to provide for the classification of all public roads, streets, and highways in this state, and for the revision of that classification and for additions to and deletions from each classification; to set up and establish the Michigan transportation fund; to provide for the deposits in the Michigan transportation fund of specific taxes on motor vehicles and motor vehicle fuels; to provide for the allocation of funds from the Michigan transportation fund and the use and administration of the fund for transportation purposes; to set up and establish the truck safety fund; to provide for the allocation of funds from the truck safety fund and administration of the fund for truck safety purposes; to set up and establish the Michigan truck safety commission; to establish certain standards for road contracts for certain businesses; to provide for the continuing review of transportation needs within the state; to authorize the state transportation commission, counties, cities, and villages to borrow money, issue bonds, and make pledges of funds for transportation purposes; to authorize counties to advance funds for the payment of deficiencies necessary for the payment of bonds issued under this act; to provide for the limitations, payment, retirement, and security of the bonds and pledges; to provide for appropriations and tax levies by counties and townships for county roads; to authorize contributions by townships for county roads; to provide for the

establishment and administration of the state trunk line fund, local bridge fund, comprehensive transportation fund, and certain other funds; to provide for the deposits in the state trunk line fund, critical bridge fund, comprehensive transportation fund, and certain other funds of money raised by specific taxes and fees; to provide for definitions of public transportation functions and criteria; to define the purposes for which Michigan transportation funds may be allocated; to provide for Michigan transportation fund grants; to provide for review and approval of transportation programs; to provide for submission of annual legislative requests and reports; to provide for the establishment and functions of certain advisory entities; to provide for conditions for grants; to provide for the issuance of bonds and notes for transportation purposes; to provide for the powers and duties of certain state and local agencies and officials; to provide for the making of loans for transportation purposes by the state transportation department and for the receipt and repayment by local units and agencies of those loans from certain specified sources; and to repeal acts and parts of acts,"

by amending the title and section 10k (MCL 247.660k), the title as amended by 2004 PA 384 and section 10k as amended by 2006 PA 82, and by adding section 10p.

**THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN ENACT:**

1 TITLE

2 An act to provide for the classification of all public roads,  
3 streets, and highways in this state, and for the revision of that  
4 classification and for additions to and deletions from each  
5 classification; to set up and establish the Michigan transportation  
6 fund; to provide for the deposits in the Michigan transportation  
7 fund of specific taxes on motor vehicles and motor vehicle fuels;  
8 to provide for the allocation of funds from the Michigan  
9 transportation fund and the use and administration of the fund for  
10 transportation purposes; **TO PROMOTE SAFE AND EFFICIENT TRAVEL FOR**  
11 **MOTOR VEHICLE DRIVERS, BICYCLISTS, PEDESTRIANS, AND OTHER LEGAL**  
12 **USERS OF ROADS, STREETS, AND HIGHWAYS;** to set up and establish the  
13 truck safety fund; to provide for the allocation of funds from the

1 truck safety fund and administration of the fund for truck safety  
2 purposes; to set up and establish the Michigan truck safety  
3 commission; to establish certain standards for road contracts for  
4 certain businesses; to provide for the continuing review of  
5 transportation needs within the state; to authorize the state  
6 transportation commission, counties, cities, and villages to borrow  
7 money, issue bonds, and make pledges of funds for transportation  
8 purposes; to authorize counties to advance funds for the payment of  
9 deficiencies necessary for the payment of bonds issued under this  
10 act; to provide for the limitations, payment, retirement, and  
11 security of the bonds and pledges; to provide for appropriations  
12 and tax levies by counties and townships for county roads; to  
13 authorize contributions by townships for county roads; to provide  
14 for the establishment and administration of the state trunk line  
15 fund, local bridge fund, comprehensive transportation fund, and  
16 certain other funds; to provide for the deposits in the state trunk  
17 line fund, critical bridge fund, comprehensive transportation fund,  
18 and certain other funds of money raised by specific taxes and fees;  
19 to provide for definitions of public transportation functions and  
20 criteria; to define the purposes for which Michigan transportation  
21 funds may be allocated; to provide for Michigan transportation fund  
22 grants; to provide for review and approval of transportation  
23 programs; to provide for submission of annual legislative requests  
24 and reports; to provide for the establishment and functions of  
25 certain advisory entities; to provide for conditions for grants; to  
26 provide for the issuance of bonds and notes for transportation  
27 purposes; to provide for the powers and duties of certain state and

1 local agencies and officials; to provide for the making of loans  
2 for transportation purposes by the state transportation department  
3 and for the receipt and repayment by local units and agencies of  
4 those loans from certain specified sources; and to repeal acts and  
5 parts of acts.

6 Sec. 10k. (1) Transportation purposes as provided in this act  
7 include provisions for facilities and services for nonmotorized  
8 transportation. ~~including bicycling.~~

9 (2) Of the funds allocated from the Michigan transportation  
10 fund to the state trunk line fund and to the counties, cities, and  
11 villages, a reasonable amount, but not less than 1% of those funds  
12 shall be expended for construction or improvement of nonmotorized  
13 transportation services and facilities.

14 (3) An improvement in a road, street, or highway ~~which~~ **THAT**  
15 **MEETS ESTABLISHED BEST PRACTICES AND** facilitates nonmotorized  
16 transportation ~~by~~ **SUCH AS** the paving of unpaved road shoulders, **THE**  
17 widening of lanes, the addition or improvement of a sidewalk in a  
18 city or village, or any other appropriate measure shall be  
19 considered to be a qualified nonmotorized facility for the purposes  
20 of this section.

21 (4) Units of government need not meet the provisions of this  
22 section annually, ~~provided~~ **IF** the requirements are met as an  
23 average over a reasonable period of years, ~~beginning with 1978,~~ not  
24 to exceed 10.

25 (5) The state transportation department or a county, city, or  
26 village receiving money from the Michigan transportation fund  
27 annually shall prepare ~~and submit~~ a 5-year program for the

1 improvement of qualified nonmotorized facilities which when  
 2 implemented would result in the expenditure of an amount equal to  
 3 at least 1% of the amount distributed to the state transportation  
 4 department or the county, city, or village, whichever is  
 5 appropriate, from the Michigan transportation fund in the previous  
 6 calendar year, multiplied by 10, less the accumulated total  
 7 expenditures by the state transportation department or the county,  
 8 city, or village for qualified nonmotorized facilities in the  
 9 immediately preceding 5 calendar years. A county ~~—~~**SHALL NOTIFY THE**  
 10 **STATE TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENT AND EACH MUNICIPALITY IN THE COUNTY**  
 11 **WHEN THE COUNTY COMPLETES PREPARATION OF ITS 5-YEAR PROGRAM UNDER**  
 12 **THIS SUBSECTION. A CITY OR VILLAGE SHALL NOTIFY THE STATE**  
 13 **TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENT AND THE COUNTY WHERE THE CITY OR VILLAGE**  
 14 **IS LOCATED WHEN THE CITY OR VILLAGE COMPLETES PREPARATION OF ITS 5-**  
 15 **YEAR PROGRAM UNDER THIS SUBSECTION. THE DEPARTMENT SHALL NOTIFY**  
 16 **EACH AFFECTED COUNTY, CITY, OR VILLAGE WHEN THE DEPARTMENT**  
 17 **COMPLETES PREPARATION OF ITS 5-YEAR PROGRAM. A city ~~—~~or village**  
 18 **receiving money from the Michigan transportation fund shall consult**  
 19 **with the state transportation ~~development region where the county,~~**  
 20 **~~city, or village is located in its~~ DEPARTMENT OR COUNTY IN THE**  
 21 **CITY'S OR VILLAGE'S** preparation and ~~submittal~~ of the 5-year program  
 22 under this subsection **WHEN PLANNING A NONMOTORIZED PROJECT**  
 23 **AFFECTING A FACILITY UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF THE STATE**  
 24 **TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENT OR COUNTY. A COUNTY RECEIVING MONEY FROM**  
 25 **THE MICHIGAN TRANSPORTATION FUND SHALL CONSULT WITH THE STATE**  
 26 **TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENT OR A CITY OR VILLAGE WHEN PLANNING A**  
 27 **NONMOTORIZED PROJECT AFFECTING A TRANSPORTATION FACILITY UNDER THE**

JURISDICTION OF THE STATE TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENT OR THE CITY OR VILLAGE. THE DEPARTMENT SHALL CONSULT WITH A COUNTY, CITY, OR VILLAGE WHEN PLANNING A NONMOTORIZED PROJECT AFFECTING A TRANSPORTATION FACILITY WITHIN THE COUNTY, CITY, OR VILLAGE.

(6) Facilities for nonmotorized transportation **CONTRIBUTING TO COMPLETE STREETS AS DEFINED IN SECTION 10P** may be established in conjunction with or separate from already existing highways, roads, and streets and shall be established when a highway, road, or street is being constructed, reconstructed, or relocated, unless:

(a) The cost of establishing the facilities would be disproportionate to the need or probable use.

(b) The establishment of the facilities would be contrary to public safety **OR STATE OR FEDERAL LAW**.

(c) Adequate facilities for nonmotorized transportation already exist in the area.

~~—— (d) Matching funds are not available through the department of natural resources or other state, local, or federal government sources.~~

(D) ~~(e)~~ The previous expenditures and projected expenditures for nonmotorized transportation facilities for the fiscal year exceed 1% of that unit's share of the Michigan transportation fund, in which case additional expenditures shall be discretionary.

(7) The state transportation department may provide information and assistance to county road commissions, cities, and villages on the planning, design, and construction of nonmotorized transportation facilities and services.

**SEC. 10P. (1) AS USED IN THIS SECTION:**

1 (A) "COMPLETE STREETS" MEANS ROADWAYS PLANNED, DESIGNED, AND  
2 CONSTRUCTED TO PROVIDE APPROPRIATE ACCESS TO ALL LEGAL USERS IN A  
3 MANNER THAT PROMOTES SAFE AND EFFICIENT MOVEMENT OF PEOPLE AND  
4 GOODS WHETHER BY CAR, TRUCK, TRANSIT, ASSISTIVE DEVICE, FOOT, OR  
5 BICYCLE.

6 (B) "COMPLETE STREETS POLICY" MEANS A DOCUMENT THAT PROVIDES  
7 GUIDANCE FOR THE PLANNING, DESIGN, AND CONSTRUCTION OF ROADWAYS OR  
8 AN INTERCONNECTED NETWORK OF TRANSPORTATION FACILITIES BEING  
9 CONSTRUCTED OR RECONSTRUCTED AND DESIGNATED FOR A TRANSPORTATION  
10 PURPOSE THAT PROMOTES COMPLETE STREETS AND MEETS ALL OF THE  
11 FOLLOWING REQUIREMENTS:

12 (i) IS SENSITIVE TO THE LOCAL CONTEXT AND RECOGNIZES THAT NEEDS  
13 VARY ACCORDING TO URBAN, SUBURBAN, AND RURAL SETTINGS.

14 (ii) CONSIDERS THE FUNCTIONAL CLASS OF THE ROADWAY AND PROJECT  
15 COSTS AND ALLOWS FOR APPROPRIATE EXEMPTIONS.

16 (iii) CONSIDERS THE VARYING MOBILITY NEEDS OF ALL LEGAL USERS OF  
17 THE ROADWAY, OF ALL AGES AND ABILITIES.

18 (C) "DEPARTMENT" MEANS THE STATE TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENT.

19 (D) "LOCAL ROAD AGENCY" MEANS THAT TERM AS DEFINED IN SECTION  
20 9A.

21 (E) "MUNICIPALITY" MEANS A CITY, VILLAGE, OR TOWNSHIP.

22 (2) THE STATE TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION SHALL DO BOTH OF THE  
23 FOLLOWING BY NOT LATER THAN 2 YEARS AFTER THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE  
24 AMENDATORY ACT THAT ADDED THIS SECTION:

25 (A) ADOPT A COMPLETE STREETS POLICY FOR THE DEPARTMENT.

26 (B) DEVELOP A MODEL COMPLETE STREETS POLICY OR POLICIES TO BE  
27 MADE AVAILABLE FOR USE BY MUNICIPALITIES AND COUNTIES.

1           (3) BEFORE A MUNICIPALITY APPROVES ITS MULTIYEAR CAPITAL  
2 PROGRAM THAT AFFECTS A ROADWAY OR TRANSPORTATION FACILITY UNDER THE  
3 JURISDICTION OF THE STATE TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENT OR WITHIN OR  
4 UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF A COUNTY OR ANOTHER MUNICIPALITY, IT  
5 SHALL CONSULT WITH THE AFFECTED AGENCY AND REACH AN AGREEMENT  
6 ADDRESSING THE RESPECTIVE COMPLETE STREETS POLICIES, SUBJECT TO  
7 EACH AGENCY'S POWERS AND DUTIES. BEFORE THE DEPARTMENT OR A COUNTY  
8 ROAD AGENCY APPROVES ITS MULTIYEAR CAPITAL PLAN THAT AFFECTS A  
9 ROADWAY OR TRANSPORTATION FACILITY WITHIN OR UNDER THE JURISDICTION  
10 OF A MUNICIPALITY, IT SHALL CONSULT WITH THE MUNICIPALITY AND REACH  
11 AN AGREEMENT ADDRESSING THE RESPECTIVE COMPLETE STREETS POLICIES,  
12 SUBJECT TO EACH AGENCY'S POWERS AND DUTIES. THIS SUBSECTION DOES  
13 NOT APPLY TO A COUNTY PROJECT AFFECTING A ROADWAY OR TRANSPORTATION  
14 FACILITY UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF OR WITHIN A MUNICIPALITY IF  
15 NEITHER THE COUNTY NOR THE MUNICIPALITY HAS A COMPLETE STREETS  
16 ORDINANCE.

17           (4) THE DEPARTMENT MAY PROVIDE ASSISTANCE TO AND COORDINATE  
18 WITH LOCAL AGENCIES IN DEVELOPING AND IMPLEMENTING COMPLETE STREETS  
19 POLICIES. THE DEPARTMENT SHALL SHARE EXPERTISE IN NONMOTORIZED AND  
20 MULTIMODAL TRANSPORTATION PLANNING IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF TRUNK LINE  
21 PROJECTS WITHIN MUNICIPAL BOUNDARIES.

22           (5) THE DEPARTMENT, LOCAL ROAD AGENCIES, AND MUNICIPALITIES  
23 MAY ENTER INTO AGREEMENTS WITH EACH OTHER PROVIDING FOR MAINTENANCE  
24 OF TRANSPORTATION FACILITIES CONSTRUCTED TO IMPLEMENT A COMPLETE  
25 STREETS POLICY.

26           (6) A COMPLETE STREETS ADVISORY COUNCIL IS CREATED WITHIN THE  
27 DEPARTMENT. THE ADVISORY COUNCIL SHALL CONSIST OF THE FOLLOWING



1 MEMBERS APPOINTED BY THE GOVERNOR:

2 (A) THE DIRECTOR OF THE STATE TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENT OR HIS  
3 OR HER DESIGNEE.

4 (B) THE DIRECTOR OF THE DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY HEALTH OR HIS  
5 OR HER DESIGNEE.

6 (C) THE DIRECTOR OF THE DEPARTMENT OF STATE POLICE OR HIS OR  
7 HER DESIGNEE.

8 (D) ONE INDIVIDUAL REPRESENTING THE STATE TRANSPORTATION  
9 COMMISSION.

10 (E) ONE INDIVIDUAL REPRESENTING ENVIRONMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS.

11 (F) ONE INDIVIDUAL REPRESENTING PLANNING ORGANIZATIONS.

12 (G) ONE INDIVIDUAL REPRESENTING ORGANIZATIONS OF DISABLED  
13 PERSONS.

14 (H) ONE INDIVIDUAL REPRESENTING ROAD COMMISSION ORGANIZATIONS.

15 (I) ONE INDIVIDUAL REPRESENTING PUBLIC TRANSIT USERS  
16 ORGANIZATIONS.

17 (J) ONE LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER OR TRAFFIC ENGINEER.

18 (K) ONE INDIVIDUAL REPRESENTING THE MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL LEAGUE.

19 (L) ONE INDIVIDUAL REPRESENTING THE AARP.

20 (M) ONE INDIVIDUAL REPRESENTING THE LEAGUE OF MICHIGAN  
21 BICYCLISTS.

22 (N) ONE INDIVIDUAL REPRESENTING A PEDESTRIAN ORGANIZATION.

23 (O) ONE INDIVIDUAL REPRESENTING THE MICHIGAN PUBLIC TRANSIT  
24 ASSOCIATION.

25 (P) AS NONVOTING MEMBERS, THE DIRECTOR OF THE DEPARTMENT OF  
26 NATURAL RESOURCES AND ENVIRONMENT OR HIS OR HER DESIGNEE, THE  
27 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF THE MICHIGAN STATE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT

1 AUTHORITY OR HIS OR HER DESIGNEE, AND THE HEADS OF SUCH OTHER STATE  
2 DEPARTMENTS AND AGENCIES, AS THE GOVERNOR CONSIDERS APPROPRIATE, OR  
3 THEIR DESIGNEES.

4 (7) THE MEMBERS FIRST APPOINTED TO THE ADVISORY COUNCIL SHALL  
5 BE APPOINTED WITHIN 60 DAYS AFTER THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS  
6 SECTION. MEMBERS OF THE ADVISORY COUNCIL SHALL SERVE FOR TERMS OF 3  
7 YEARS OR UNTIL A SUCCESSOR IS APPOINTED, WHICHEVER IS LATER, EXCEPT  
8 THAT OF THE MEMBERS FIRST APPOINTED 3 SHALL SERVE FOR 1 YEAR, 3  
9 SHALL SERVE FOR 2 YEARS, AND 3 SHALL SERVE FOR 3 YEARS. IF A  
10 VACANCY OCCURS ON THE ADVISORY COUNCIL, THE GOVERNOR SHALL MAKE AN  
11 APPOINTMENT FOR THE UNEXPIRED TERM IN THE SAME MANNER AS THE  
12 ORIGINAL APPOINTMENT. THE GOVERNOR MAY REMOVE A MEMBER OF THE  
13 ADVISORY COUNCIL FOR INCOMPETENCY, DERELICTION OF DUTY,  
14 MALFEASANCE, MISFEASANCE, OR NONFEASANCE IN OFFICE, OR ANY OTHER  
15 GOOD CAUSE.

16 (8) THE FIRST MEETING OF THE ADVISORY COUNCIL SHALL BE CALLED  
17 BY THE DIRECTOR OF THE STATE TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENT. AT THE  
18 FIRST MEETING, THE ADVISORY COUNCIL SHALL ELECT FROM AMONG ITS  
19 MEMBERS A CHAIRPERSON, VICE-CHAIRPERSON, SECRETARY, AND OTHER  
20 OFFICERS AS IT CONSIDERS NECESSARY OR APPROPRIATE. AFTER THE FIRST  
21 MEETING AND BEFORE 2018, THE ADVISORY COUNCIL SHALL MEET AT LEAST  
22 QUARTERLY, OR MORE FREQUENTLY AT THE CALL OF THE CHAIRPERSON OR IF  
23 REQUESTED BY 3 OR MORE MEMBERS. A MAJORITY OF THE MEMBERS OF THE  
24 ADVISORY COUNCIL CONSTITUTE A QUORUM FOR THE TRANSACTION OF  
25 BUSINESS AT A MEETING OF THE ADVISORY COUNCIL. THE AFFIRMATIVE VOTE  
26 OF A MAJORITY OF THE MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED FOR OFFICIAL ACTION OF  
27 THE ADVISORY COUNCIL.

1           (9) THE BUSINESS THAT THE ADVISORY COUNCIL MAY PERFORM SHALL  
2 BE CONDUCTED AT A PUBLIC MEETING OF THE ADVISORY COUNCIL HELD IN  
3 COMPLIANCE WITH THE OPEN MEETINGS ACT, 1976 PA 267, MCL 15.261 TO  
4 15.275. A WRITING PREPARED, OWNED, USED, IN THE POSSESSION OF, OR  
5 RETAINED BY THE ADVISORY COUNCIL IN THE PERFORMANCE OF AN OFFICIAL  
6 FUNCTION IS SUBJECT TO THE FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT, 1976 PA 442,  
7 MCL 15.231 TO 15.246.

8           (10) MEMBERS OF THE ADVISORY COUNCIL SHALL SERVE WITHOUT  
9 COMPENSATION. HOWEVER, MEMBERS OF THE ADVISORY COUNCIL MAY BE  
10 REIMBURSED FOR THEIR ACTUAL AND NECESSARY EXPENSES INCURRED IN THE  
11 PERFORMANCE OF THEIR OFFICIAL DUTIES AS MEMBERS OF THE ADVISORY  
12 COUNCIL.

13           (11) THE ADVISORY COUNCIL SHALL DO ALL OF THE FOLLOWING:

14           (A) PROVIDE EDUCATION AND ADVICE TO THE STATE TRANSPORTATION  
15 COMMISSION, COUNTY ROAD COMMISSIONS, MUNICIPALITIES, INTEREST  
16 GROUPS, AND THE PUBLIC ON THE DEVELOPMENT, IMPLEMENTATION, AND  
17 COORDINATION OF COMPLETE STREETS POLICIES.

18           (B) BY DECEMBER 30, 2011, AND EACH CALENDAR YEAR THEREAFTER,  
19 REPORT TO THE GOVERNOR, THE STATE TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION, AND  
20 THE LEGISLATURE ON THE STATUS OF COMPLETE STREETS POLICIES IN THIS  
21 STATE. THE REPORT SHALL CONTAIN A SUMMARY OF THE ADVISORY COUNCIL'S  
22 PROCEEDINGS AND ANY OTHER NECESSARY OR USEFUL INFORMATION AND ANY  
23 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION THAT MAY BE REQUESTED BY THE GOVERNOR.

24           (C) ADVISE THE STATE TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION ON THE ADOPTION  
25 OF MODEL POLICIES UNDER SUBSECTION (2).